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A HeartHy, HAPPY AND PROSPEROUS NEW YEAR!

In This Issue—

With the beginning of the new year, it behooves us to let our active members know who their fellow mem-
bers are. With this in mind, you’ll find the address list of our active members in the following pages. Some
of our members have unlisted telephone numbers and do not want them disseminated, so we did not include
them. E-mail addresses, those that we have, are included in the listings. Please let me know either by snail
mail (U.S. Postal Service) or e-mail (edjmendyka@aol.com) of any change of address or misspellings.
Please retain this newsletter as we hope to publish the surnames that our members are researching in our
next newsletter and you’ll need to match the name and address of the researcher with whom they are re-
searching. And with any luck, someone may have done all your research for you. We should be so lucky.

An address listing of Polish-American churches who receive our newsletter is also found in this issue.
Churches in Akron, Elyria, Lorain and of course Cleveland, are included. Some of our members might wish
to write to them for copies of marriage records, baptismal records etc. They now have an address to which
they can write and hopefully fill in one of those blank spaces on their pedigree charts.

Genealogy is all about collecting facts. Sometimes we need to get an overview of our Polish community and
its neighborhoods, a little history about its founding and formation. Inside these pages you’ll find an excel-
lent article entitled, Poles, which is written by John J. Grabowski of the Western Reserve Historical Society
and found in the book, The Encyclopedia of Cleveland History. Four biographical sketches of individuals
mentioned in the article are also found here.

Toward the Future—

In the next newsletter, as mentioned above, we’ll publish the surnames of the ancestors that our active
membership is researching. It is quite a lengthy list so if it cannot be done in one issue, we’ll split it up and
publish it in the next two issues. Again, if there are misspellings or if you want to add any names to your list,
you can contact me at that time and corrections and additions will be made.

We'’ve asked for and received permission from Gray and Company Publishers to reprint a chapter from one
of their books The Corpse in the Cellar. It concerns Joe Filkowski who was much talked about on the South
Side of Cleveland during the ‘30’s. There were many stories about him, some true and some not so true.
Again, the story gives us a slight hint of what times were like “way back then”.

Wally Huskonen will be our speaker at the March meeting, March 6, 2001. He is a member of the Cuyahoga
Valley Genealogical Society. The title of his talk is Ships of Our Ancestors.

For our April meeting, April 3, 2001, Mary Kay Wisnieski of the Cuyahoga Valley Genealogical Society will
address the group on the topic of Ellis Island. Hope to see you all there.

Rest in Peace—

Earlier this year, Emil Kowalczyk passed away. He was born and raised in the St. Casimer’s area of Cleveland. He
was our first and only member from Alaska. We are saddened by the death of Edmund J. Chojnicki, friend and one
of the founders of our group. Helen Tusick, mother of MaryAnn Vizdos, passed away last August. Say a prayer also
for Mary (Gembus) Bentley, mother of Joyce Hillson, who passed on Jan. 3, 2001. God rest their souls.
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Address List of Active Members—Jan. 2001

ALFRED & MILDRED ANTAL
4602 PANNA LANE
CLEVELAND, OH 44109

RICHARD & LUCY BELILL
P.O. BOX 257-7778 OAK
BIRCH RUN, MI 48415

JOYCE BIVENS

38 TOWNSHIP RD. 1100
DILLONVALE, OH 43917
figbar58@yahoo.com

BERNARD CELEK
1536 SMITH COURT
FREMONT, OH 43420

CHRISTIAN & JOAN CHERMELY
29002 SHERBROOK DR.
WICKLIFFE, OH 44092
KRIST-C@JUNO.COM

PATRICK & CHRISTINE COLLINS
29747 ARTHUR AVE.
WICKLIFFE, OH 44092

PAUL & BARBARA DWORZNIK
1412 RUSTIC TRAIL
PARMA, OH 44134

WALTER & JUANITA FORTUNA
5217 WEST 16 ST.
PARMA, OH 44134

-HOWARD & ALICE GILLIHAN
360 HUNTMERE DR.
BAY VILLAGE, OH 44140

RICK & MAUREEN GUTKOSKI
11176 LAFAYETTE DR.
PARMA HTS., OH 44130

rgutkoski@stratos.net

JOSEPHINE BAKER
6085 TANGLEWOOD DR. N. E.
ST. PETERSBURG, FL 33703

LAWRENCE & MARY BENDER
7184 WEST 130th ST.
MIDDLEBURG HTS., OH 44130

FRANCIS BOSTOSKY
3865 E.54 ST.
CLEVELAND, OH 44105-3354

RICHARD & MARY JO CELEK
408 EAST ELEVENTH ST.
PORT CLINTON, OH 43452

ED & GERALDINE CHOJNICKI
8291 GLEN OAK DR.
BROADVIEW HTS., OH 44147

KAREN COYNE
27068 LA PAZ #522
ALISO VIEJO, CA 92656

BARBARA DZURELLA
9 LILLIAN AVE.
SUDBURY, MA 01776

JUDITH FREELS

453 S. PT. HIGGINS RD. N
KETCHIKAN, AK 99901-9348
judyfreels@worldnet.att.net

CHARLES & MADELINE GRIMES
19635 HWY 105
CLEVELAND, TX 77327-2433

WAYNE HACHOLSKI
256 S. WRIGHTWOOD
ORANGE, CA 92669

JANE BARRY
435 WAYNE St. Apt. 148
BRONSON, MI 49028

ROLF & MARTHA BERGMAN
3236 BERKELEY AVE.

CLEVELAND HTS., OH 44118-2055
martyb@ncecw.net

NORMAN & EDNA BRAUN
10709 GRACE AVE.
GARFIELD HTS., OH 44125

RONALD & SONIA CHAPNICK
7897 GILDERSLEEVE CIRCLE
KIRTLAND, OH 44094

BARBARA CLARK
413 LOMBARD RD.
COLUMBUS, OH 43228

JAMES & KAREN DOBBINS
46 1/2 E. SCHAAF RD.
BROOKLYN HGTS., OH 44131

PAUL & ROSEANNE EWAZEN
1505 GRANBY AVE.
CLEVELAND, OH 44109

TIMOTHY & PATTI GABB
6474 WILLOW DR.
INDEPENDENCE, OH 44131

REV. M. C. & BARBARA GROTH
3728 W. 123rd PL. #212
ALSIP, IL 60803

JOSEPH & GLORIA HADBAVNY
3889 EDGEPARK DR.
NORTH OLMSTED, OH 44070



Address List of Active Members—Jan. 2001

DAVID & ARMELA HAMMES
142 N.HAYDEN PKWY
HUDSON, OH 44236

DOROTHY HUDSON
4511 ALPHA AVE.
CLEVELAND, OH 44105

STANLEY & MARGARET
JACKOWICZ

6357 S.CANTERBURY AVE.
PARMA, OH 44129

VIOLET JASTER
826 TIMOTHY LANE
CLEVELAND, OH 44109

JOHN KANIESKI
3140 PINE LAKE DR.
MEDINA, OH 44256

BEN KMAN
4 BELLUS RD.
HINCKLEY, OH 44233

MARIAN & MILDRED KOSZEWSKI
959 MADISON AVE.
PAINESVILLE, OH 44077

FRANK KOWALSKI JR.
P.O. BOX 5104
CLEVELAND, OH 44101

DONALD & MARLENE
KWIATKOWSKI

9912 HAWLEY DR.

NO. ROYALTON, OH 44133

DR. JOSEPH LIS
5557 GREYSTON ST.
PALM HARBOR, FL 34685

GERALDINE HARDWAY
121 SO.EDISON DR.
MILAN, OH 44846-9739

THOMAS & ALEXANDRIA IVANCIC
43305 DELLEFIELD RD.
ELYRIA, OH 44035

tsi2@eriecoast.com

ED & RICHARDA JAMBROZY
1492 LEWIS DR.
CLEVELAND, OH 44107

ROBERT & ROSEMARIE JESS
9802 SOUTH HIGHLAND
GARFIELD HEIGHTS, OH 44125

CHERYL KAWCZYNSKI
4272 BLUESTONE RD.
SO. EUCLID, OH 44121

CHESTER & LOIS KOLOJEK
4144 LYDGATE DR.
NORTH OLMSTED, OH 44070

DAVID KOWALCZYK
6109 EDGEBROOK BLVD.
PARMA HTS., OH 44130

PATRICIA KUCZMARSKI
540 CHESTNUT RD.
SEVEN HILLS, OH 44131-3521

GILBERT & MAGDA LASKOWSKI
8306 CHERRY VALLEY LANE
ALEXANDRIA, VA 22309-2118

CHET & VIRGINIA LUTY
1754 BOSTON RD.
HINCKLEY, OH 44233

KEVIN HAWKINS
2589 WEST 11th ST. (REAR)
CLEVELAND, OH 44113

ANTHONY & ROSEMARIE
JABLONOWSKI

4006 ALBERTLY AVE.
PARMA, OH 44134

RICHARD & GEORGENE JASINSKI
3121 PARMALEE DR.
SEVEN HILLS , OH 44131

georjas@juno.com

FRANK & VERONICA KAMINSKI
385 HAMILTON CIRCLE
ELYRIA, OH 44035

DENNIS & STELLA KLASCH
3616 BEVERLY HILLS DR.
ROCKY RIVER, OH 44116

LEROY KOSTECKI
6905 HARVARD AVE.
CLEVELAND, OH 44105

EMIL & MARY KOWALCZYK
511 CARMEL MESA DR.
HENDERSON, NV 89012

ALLAN & CYNDI KUNTZ
1428 BLACKMORE RD.
CLEVELAND HTS., OH 44118

EUGENIA LIPOWSKI
107 ST. JOHNS WAY
WARNER ROBINS, GA 31093

ROBERT LYNCH
4012 VENICE RD. #2
SANDUSKY, OH 44870



Address List of Active Members—Jan. 2001

RALPH & JEAN LYSYK
1675 MAZEPA TRAIL
PARMA, OH 44134
RLysyk@aol.com

MELANIE MAZUR
1216 KENSINGTON DR.
MUNDELEIN, IL 60061

GARY & ROSE MOLDENHAUER
1621 GREEN AVE.
BAY CITY, MI 48708

RAYMOND & CAROL MUZILLA
5313 PORTAGE DR.
VERMILION, OH 44089

THOMAS & SUSAN OLLIE
19320 RIVERWOOD AVE.
ROCKY RIVER, OH 44116-2735

GARY & NANCY PARISI
5805 MEADOW GLEN DR.
KNOXVILLE, TN 37919

parisi@mindspring.com

RAYMOND & KAREN PIANKA
6405 FRANKLIN BLVD.
CLEVELAND, OH 44102

JAMES & ANITA RYBA MD
11100 WARNER AVE. # 250
FOUNTAIN VALLEY, CA 92708
SLEDNA®@AOL.COM

GEORGE & HARRIET SELLNAU
1511 BERING DR.
HOUSTON, TX 77057

gsellnau@aol.com

EUGENE & WANDA SLUSARSKI
27705 WHITE RD.
WILLOUGHBY HILLS, OH 44092

WALTER & WLADYSLAWA
MADURA

33 BELLEVIEW DR.
DERBY, CT 06418

CATHERINE McKAY
1573 COTTAGE GROVE
SAN MATEO, CA 94401

MARY KAY MORASKI
7681 FAIRMOUNT RD.
NOVELTY, OH 44072

JIM NIEMOJEWSKI
3907 CLYBOURNE AVE.
CLEVELAND, OH 44109

PETER & HELEN PALSHOOK
2995 BRUSH RD.
RICHFIELD, OH 44286

JAMES & CAROLYN PELCZAR
7326 S.R. 19 UNIT 0701
MT. GILEAD, OH 43338-9485

PAUL & CELESTINE RAPE
908 CHEROKEE DR.
MASON, OH 45040

HARRY SAWICKI
7275 VERNON
DEARBORN HTS., MI 48127

WILLIAM & EDNA MAE SERCHAK
7828 RYDAL TERRACE
ROCKVILLE, MD 20855-2058

BEN STEFANSKI II
13710 SHAKER BLVD.
CLEVELAND, OH 44120

ELEANOR MARSZAL
4849 GRACE RD.
NO. OLMSTED, OH 44070

EDWARD MENDYKA
4330 JENNINGS RD. #233
CLEVELAND, OH 44109

RON & CHRISTINE MORLAN
8975 LAKEVIEW CIRCLE
PARMA, OH 44129
ONCEWAWRZY@AOL.COM

FRANCIS & JENNIE OLENDER
118 ALDEN ST.
WALLINGTON , NJ 07057

EDITOR PANAGRAPHICS
1275 HARLEM RD.
BUFFALO, NY 14206

STEVEN & DEBRA PETERS
4810 HOLMES RD.
GOODRICH, MI 48438

petey@tir.com

RICHARD & MARY ANN ROBERTS
2545 NW 111th AVE.
PORTLAND, OR 97229

roberts@juno.com

LEE & DAWN SCOTT
2118 TIMBERLAKE TRAIL
FORT WAYNE, IN 46804

BARBARA SHAVER
30035 N. WAUKEGAN RD. #106
LAKE BLUFF, IL 60044-1096

LEON STEVENS
1786 WEST 31st PLACE
CLEVELAND, OH 44113



Address List of Active Members—Jan. 2001

DONALD & JEANNETTE SWIFT
21350 ARBOR AVE.
EUCLID, OH 44123

JOHN & SOPHIA TALKOWSKI
8919 SINGING HILLS DR.N.E
WARREN, OH 44484

DENNIS & CONSTANCE TURSKI
2146 W. 5th ST.
CLEVELAND, OH 44113

caturski@peoplepc.com

BRUNO & PHYLLIS SYZDEK
4625 RIP VAN WINKLE LANE
LAS VEGAS, NV 89102
BSYZDEK@AOL.COM

JOHN & PATRICIA TOMASIEWICZ

15 STONEYBROOK DR.
WATERBURY, CT 06705

CARL & CAROLINE VENINSHEK
319 MONTICELLO DR.
ALTAMONTE SPRINGS, FL 32701

JOHN & MARLENE SZUCH
105 PLEASANT VIEW DR.
SEVILLE, OH 44273

DAVID & KAREN TROUT
6121 HATHAWAY RD.
GARFIELD HTS., OH 44125

DENNIS WAWRZYNIAK
24103 BRUCE RD.
BAY VILLAGE, OH 44140

EDMUND & DOROTHY MARTIN WOLKE DOLORES WRUBLEWSKI
WIENTCZAK 2015 NATCHEZ AVE. 8112 CONTINENTAL
9313 DAVID RD. CLEVELAND, OH 44109-4466 WARREN, MI 48089-1661

GARFIELD HTS., OH 44125

GEORGE & FRANCES ZEGLEN DONALD & MARYSUE ZEHMS
1546 E. 256th ST. BOX 564
EUCLID, OH 44132 GREEN BAY, WI 54305

CLEMENTINE ZAKAROWSKY
6252 WEST 54th ST.
PARMA, OH 44129

EDWIN & CONNIE ZELEK
3148 ALDEN DR.
PARMA, OH 44134

Welcome—Witamy—New Members

Timothy & Patti Gabb Thomas & Alexandria Ivancic Raymond & Carol Muzilla
6474 Willow Dr. 43305 Dellefield Rd. 5313 Portage Dr.
Independence, Ohio 44131 Elyria, Ohio 44035 Vermilion, Ohio 44089
The Internet—

Unless a person actually gets on the Internet, he/she has no idea what it is. For the onlooker, it is a new
technological toy used for the most part by yuppies, nerds and adolescents to play games, communicate with
each other through e-mail and whatever. Once you dial into the Internet yourself, it’s a new world, an entirely
new realm. This is not said to frighten anyone, just the opposite in fact. It is a new challenge, complete with its
own set of rules, its own etiquette, its own vocabulary. A newbie (a newcomer to the Internet) has much to learn
but the anticipated rewards shall be great indeed. In time, most of our genealogical research will be done on the
Internet. Of course, we will still want a hard copy of a birth certificate, a marriage license etc., but with the
Internet, we will know exactly where to find this information and where to write for it.

Having finally succumbed to the temptation of the Internet and being a newbie, I asked Ralph Lysyk for some
help. He was kind enough to come over and when we got on the Internet, he told me to type in “google”. For
sure, this guy is pulling my leg. Well, it turns out he wasn’t. Once the “google” site comes up, I asked the
computer to search for “genealogy”. Lo and behold, there are 14,124 web sites under that listing. A web site is
where you can find information about the subject you asked for. Under the heading of “Polish”, there are
16,945 web sites; under “Polish genealogy” 332 web sites and 7,459 web pages. So, let’s hit the web pages
button and see what that is. (continued on pg. 6)



Religious Groups Receiving Our Newsletter

ASSUMPTION CHURCH
1033 ELM ST.
GRAFTON, OH 44044
1-216-926-2364

HOLY TRINITY P.N.C. CHURCH
7460 BROADWAY AVE.
CLEVELAND, OH 44105
1-216-341-9124

NEW HOPE ASSEMBLY OF GOD
4807 STATE RD.

CLEVELAND, OH 44109
1-216-741-0117

SISTERS OF ST. JOSEPH CONVENT
12025 McCRACKEN RD.
CLEVELAND, OH 44125
1-216-662-4495

ST. ADALBERT CONVENT
56 ADELBERT ST.

BEREA, OH 44017
1-216-234-1096

ST. HEDWIG CHURCH

213 EAST GLENWOOD AVE.
AKRON, OH 44310
1-216-376-6979

ST. JOHN CANTIUS CHURCH
906 COLLEGE AVE.
CLEVELAND, OH 44113
1-216-781-9095

ST. STANISLAUS CHURCH
ELYRIA AVE & EAST 28 ST.
LORAIN, OH 44055
1-216-244-4185

The Internet—
(continued from pg. 5)

The first item under web pages is the Welcome Page for the PG
our Chicago brethren. On the left side of the screen are categories suc
About PGSA, Calendar, Membership,
Geography/Maps, History, Heraldry,
bers’ Pages, Polish Forum, Polish Museum

on its button. Let’s click on databases and see what they have.

In our limited library, we have a national, state and local index for
they were asked to fill out, forms A, B and C. Not all of the recor

PGSA Publications,
Info Exchang

CORPUS CHRISTI CHURCH
5204 NORTHCLIFF AVE.
CLEVELAND, OH 44144
1-216-351-8738

IMMACULATE HEART OF MARY
6700 LANSING AVE.
CLEVELAND, OH 44105
1-216-341-2734

SACRED HEART OF JESUS CHURCH
6916 KRAKOW AVE.

CLEVELAND, OH 44105
1-216-341-2828

SISTERS OF ST. JOSEPH CONVENT
1300 MARIA DR.
STEVENS PT., W1 54481

ST. BARBARA CHURCH
1505 DENISON AVE.
CLEVELAND, OH 44109
1-216-741-2067

ST. HEDWIG CHURCH
12903 MADISON AVE.
LAKEWOOD, OH 44107
1-216-521-5086

ST. MARY POLISH N.C. CHURCH
5375 BROADVIEW RD.

PARMA, OH 44134
1-216-661-9246

STS. PETER AND PAUL CHURCH
4750 TURNEY RD.

GARFIELD HTS., OH 44125
1-216-429-1515

HOLY CROSS CHURCH
1417 WEST AVE.
ELYRIA, OH 44035
1-216-323-1022

NAT. OF BLESSED VIRGIN MARY
418 WEST 15th ST.

LORAIN, OH 44052

1-216-621-6445

SACRED HEART OF JESUS PNC
14660 ALEXANDER RD.
WALTON HILLS, OH 44146
1-216-439-3316

ST. ADALBERT CHURCH
66 ADALBERT

BEREA, OH 44017
1-216-234-6830

ST. CASIMIR CHURCH
8223 SOWINSKI AVE.
CLEVELAND, OH 44103
1-216-361-4322

ST. HYACINTH CHURCH
6114 FRANCIS AVE.
CLEVELAND, OH 44127
1-216-641-3944

ST. STANISLAUS CHURCH
3649 EAST 65th ST.
CLEVELAND, OH 44105
1-216-341-9091

SA, The Polish Genealogical Society of America,
h as; Home (the first or welcoming page),
Ancestor Index, Book Korner, Databases, Gen Hints,
e, Resource Center, Ships/Immigration, Arts/Customs, Mem
and PRCUA. You can go to any of these categories by just clicking
Here’s a listing of Haller’s Volunteers.

these volunteers. There were three forms that
ds have survived. In the past, one had to look

through the volumes, find the volume and page number, find the address to write to, write the request and send

it out with the enclosed donation. With the Internet, you can
«wild card search” for a broader listing, hit the enter key and out come t
download and fill in with the requests you hav
$10.00 for members for each name submitt
saver. And this is just one example of what the Internet can
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search the database by typing in a surname, choose
he names. There is a form that you can
e, there is an address to send the form to, and the donations are,
ed and $15.00 for nonmembers. What a convenience and a time
do. If you haven’t tried the Internet, giveita go.One

of our members uses the computer at the public library. It’s exploring like no one has ever dreamed of!



POLES*

Poles formed one of Cleveland’s largest nationality groups in the 20th century and had an important influence on
the city, particularly during its period of heavy industrial growth. Individuals may have visited or temporarily
settled in the area before the Civil War, but the first cohesive settlement of Poles occurred in BERFA in the late
1860s, where they were employed in the stone quarries. At about this time, isolated groups of Poles arrived in
Cleveland; 77 were counted in the 1870 census. The Cleveland Poles did not form a specific neighborhood at this
time but settled within the Czech community around Croton St. Several factors subsequently increased Polish
migration to Cleveland, especially German cultural pressures in Prussian Poland and poverty and repression in
Russian Poland. Combined with relatively safe and inexpensive ocean transport and the need for workers in
Cleveland’s rapidly growing industries, the city’s Polish population grew to 35,024 by 1920, with most growth
occurring between 1900-14. Travel brokers in the city’s Polish neighborhoods, such as MICHAEL KNIOLA,
made all necessary arrangements for transporting people from Poland to relatives already in Cleveland. All immi-
gration after World War I was inconsequential, so this great pre-World War I influx determined the neighborhoods
and organizations of Cleveland’s Poles.

Distinct Polish neighborhoods began forming by the late 1870s as immigrants worked in specific industries and
lived nearby. By the late 1870s, a number of Poles worked in Cleveland Rolling Mills in NEWBURGH. Although
initially residing with Czechs, Poles eventually created their own settlement adjacent to Tod (E. 65th) St. and what
became Fleet Ave.; influenced as much by its proximity to the mills as by their selection of a site at Tod and Forman
Ave. for their church, ST. STANISLAUS CHURCH. With construction of a church building in 1881, the settlement,
soon known as Warszawa, began a period of growth that continued into the 1920s and remained viable into the
1990s, when it was known as SLAVIC VILLAGE/BROADWAY. By the late 1880s, another Polish settlement,
Poznan, was established around E. 79th St. and Superior Ave. Settled as early as 1878, this neighborhood was close
to industries that stretched along the railroad lines on the lakefront to the north. A third major settlement, Kantowo,
arose in the TREMONT area in the late 1880s and 1890s as steel-mill activity grew in the Cuyahoga valley immediately
eastward. By World War I, several smaller neighborhoods were also settled: Josephatowo in the late 1890s near E.
33rd St. and St. Clair Ave., close to Otis Steel works; Barbarowo after 1900 at Denison Ave., near GRASSELLI
CHEMICAL CO.; and along Madison Ave. in the early 1890s, settling with other groups, including SLOVAKS,
near NATIONAL CARBON CO.

Though the immigrants began a number of small enterprises to serve their neighborhoods—by 1900 there were 32
Polish grocery stores and 67 saloons in Cleveland—the economic base of each neighborhood was strongly linked to
its adjacent industry. Indeed, the first CLEVELAND ROLLING MILL STRIKES in 1882 was responsible for a
sizable growth in the area’s Polish population, as immigrants were recruited in New York to break the strike. By 1919
Poles constituted over 50% of the workforce of U.S. STEEL CORP American Steel & Wire Div. (formerly the
Rolling Mills). Other enterprises in the Warszawa area employing many Poles included Kaynee Blouse Co.,
CLEVELAND WORSTED MILL CO. and Grabler Mfg. Co. Until the coming of age of the 2nd and, primarily,
3rd generations, Cleveland’s Poles were largely linked to heavy industry and labor; the entrepreneurial ventures
founded were directed toward fellow Poles, not to the community at large.

The Roman Catholic church proved the cultural center of each neighborhood. St. Stanislaus (est. 1873) was the
mother parish for Cleveland Poles. Serving Warszawa, it was the basis for 2 other congregations, Sacred Heart of
Jesus (1889) and St. Hyacinth (1907). St. John Cantius (1897) served, and gave its name to, the Kantowo region,
and St. Casimir (1893) served Poznan. Other parishes were St. Hedwig (1914) in LAKEWOOD; St. Barbara
(1905), after which the Barbarowo neighborhood was named; and St. Josaphat (1908), after which Josephatowo
was named. As Poles migrated to the suburbs, nationality parishes were established there. St. Mary of Czestochowa
(1914) served Poles in the Corlett area around E. 131st and Harvard; SS. Peter & Paul (1925) served the growing
GARFIELD HEIGHTS Polish population; and Corpus Christi (1936) at Biddulph and Pearl Rds. served Poles

migrating to that area.



Because of the importance of the church, it was often the center of controversy, as priests assumed great influence
and often came into conflict with diocesan authorities. Indeed, the major internal conflict in Cleveland’s Polish
community came about when Fr. ANTON E KOLASZEWSKI was removed from St. Stanislaus parish by the
diocese in 1892. Though the exact charges against Kolaszewski are still unclear, it is apparent that his enormous
expenditures to construct a new church created a debt that alienated many of his parishioners, as well as the bishop.
Sent to Syracuse, NY, Kolaszewski returned to Cleveland in 1894 at the request of some his former parishioners
and established IMMACULATE HEART OF MARY PARISH. Having defied diocesan authority, he and the
parish members were excommunicated; they were received back into the church and diocese only after Kolaszewski
resigned his pastorate in 1908. The rancor between pro- and anti-Kolaszewski factions in Warszawa was extreme
and led to the establishment of separate fraternal organizations and newspapers and influenced the outcome of
elections, with its stigma remaining into the 1930s. Continued dissatisfaction with a diocese directed by German
and Irish interests eventually led some Cleveland Poles to join the independent POLISH NATIONAL CATHO-
LIC CHURCH. The first parish, Sacred Heart of Jesus (1914), was established in the Kantowo neighborhood.
Eventually 4 additional parishes were established in the city.

Despite the overwhelming influence of the Roman Catholic church, several non-Catholic churches served Cleveland’s
Poles, including Trinity Baptist (ca. 1910), eventually located at Broadway and Fullerton. In 1943 its building was
sold to the Catholic Diocese and used for Transfiguration Church, the last Polish Roman Catholic parish estab-
lished in Cleveland. In the 1980s a second Baptist church was begun on E. 59th St., occupying a building that once
housed Mizpah Mission Church for Poles and Bohemians, a Congregational body established by Schauffler Mis-
sionary Training School in the late 1880s.

Outside of the church, fraternal insurance organizations claimed a large hold on the Polish immigrant neighbor-
hood. The 2 major national fraternals, the Polish Roman Catholic Union and the Polish Natl. Alliance, established
their first Cleveland branches by 1880 and 1886, respectively. The former was closely linked to the church, while
the latter was more secular and a principal advocate of Polish national independence. While the PRCU often met
in church facilities, the PNA constructed meeting halls in each of the 3 major neighborhoods; the one serving
Kantowo was the Polish Library Home, housing a notable collection of Polish literature until closing in 1982.
Religious factionalism also affected the fraternals. The local UNION OF POLES IN AMERICA began in 1894 as
the Polish Roman Catholic Union of the Immaculate Heart of Mary for members of the schismatic Immaculate
Heart parish. The ALLIANCE OF POLES OF AMERICA was established in 1895 by Clevelanders unhappy with
the Polish Natl. Alliance’s decision to admit socialists to membership and its strong ties to Chicago. As many of the
early fraternals prohibited membership by women, local Polish women established the ASSOCIATION OF POL-
ISH WOMEN IN THE U.S.A. in the U.S. in 1911; it grew out of the Polish Women’s Alliance.

Poles also established cultural organizations, many of which had ties to the fraternals or to the church. Among the
more important were HARMONIA CHOPIN SINGING SOCIETY, a choral group founded in 1902; the Polish
Natl. Choir of the Polish Natl. Alliance; and the Halka Singing Society of the Assn. of Polish Women. More than
a dozen choral and drama groups were active by the 1920s. The Cleveland Society of Poles, formed in 1923 from
a branch of the Polish Natl. Alliance, consisted largely of Polish businessmen. Active into the 1990s, it held annual
debutante balls for members’ daughters and donated funds to Polish colleges and organizations dedicated to per-
petuating Polish culture. A similar women’s group, the American Polish Women’s Club, was also established in
1923. Of great importance in the community’s history was the SOKOL POLSKI, or Polish Falcons, a national
organization fostering Polish nationalism through gymnastics. The local branch, Nest 141, was the base for recruit-
ing Polish volunteers to fight with the Allies in World War I. The nest later became known largely for its athletic
program, with Olympic gold medal winner STELLA WALSH being one of its most prominent members.

The local community peaked in 1930 with a population of 36,668 foreign-born Poles. At that time the city
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supported 2 Polish-language daily newspapers, WIADOMOSCI CODZIENNE and MONITOR
CLEVELANDSKI, the latter a descendant of Polonia w Ameryce, which was the first Polish paper to be published
in Cleveland (1892). The community also supported banks and savings and loans, including Warsaw Savings &
Loan (1916), Bank of Cleveland (1913), and THIRD FEDERAL SAVINGS AND LOAN ASSN. OF CLEVE-
LAND (1938). Despite the size and apparent prosperity of the community, it was still fragmented and already in
decline. Though the St. Stanislaus-Immaculate Heart of Mary rift had largely healed, it was replaced by differences
over the political situation in the new Polish state. Poles in Kantowo, largely from Russian Poland, tended to be
socialist and supported Marshal Joseph Pilsudski, while residents in Warszawa had supported Ignace Paderewski,
the first premier (1919) of independent Poland. Pilsudski became Poland’s minister of war in 1926. The split,
reflected in the newspapers, with the Wiadomosci being pro-Pilsudski and the Monitor anti-Pilsudski, stifled
attempts to unify Polish organizations or opinion in Cleveland, although a League of Polish Organizations at-
tempted to bridge such differences. Only the German invasion of Poland ended the problem, but a similar prob-
lem arose after World War II, with the community divided in its opinion of the Communist Polish state. Such
division within the community could be the chief reason for the almost total lack of achievement by Polish politi-
cians beyond the ward level. Although Warszawa has almost always been represented on the city council by some-
one of Polish background since 1905, no Polish-American has seriously contended for the mayoralty despite the
size of the community. Predominantly Democratic in outlook since the Depression, Cleveland’s Polish commu-
nity has produced only a few notable political figures, most importantly JOSEPH SAWICKI, elected to the state
house in 1906 and to municipal court in the 1920s and 1930s.

By 1930 the community began to wane. With no new immigration, the number of foreign-born Poles declined.
Not even the influx of displaced persons after World War II did much to reverse the trend. By 1970 only 6,234
Poles resided in Cleveland. In 1980 the number had risen to 8,323. By the 1990s, Poles were one of the ten largest
immigrant groups coming to the U.S., their movement being spurred by economic uncertainty as Poland moved
from a command to a free economy. In 1990 the U.S. census estimated that 1,635 Poles resided within Cleveland
proper, making them the second largest European immigrant community (following that of the states of the
former Yugoslavia) in the city. However, these immigrants were scattered throughout the area. All of the old
neighborhoods, except that around Fleet Ave., had severely shrunk or disappeared as 1st-generation immigrants
died and their offspring moved away. Indeed, the movement to suburban areas began as early as 1910, when Poles
followed the streetcar lines out of Warszawa to the Corlett district. Other streetcar lines and automobiles permitted
additional movement into GARFIELD HEIGHTS and areas near PARMA in the 1920s. Halted by the Depres-
sion and war, movement began again in the 1950s as the old neighborhoods emptied into Garfield Hts.,
WARRENSVILLE HEIGHTS, MAPLE HEIGHTS, and Parma. Further exacerbating the situation in the old
neighborhoods was the decline of the industries around which they had been built. Many the basic industries
around Fleet Ave. had closed by the end of the 1960s.

Despite the decline of the pioneer Polish neighborhoods, all of the city’s Polish Catholic churches remained active
as of 1995, a testament to the central position of the Roman Catholic church in the culture. However, most of
those attending some of the churches came from suburban homes to do so; whether their offspring continue the
tradition is very much in doubt, and it is likely that all of the old neighborhoods, except that along Fleet Ave., will
have totally disappeared by the next century. The continued life of Warszawa—Slavic Village—cannot, however,
depend on the restricted immigration from Poland or upon nearby industrial opportunities; the area’s residents
must make their heritage a viable attraction for tourists, middle-income home buyers, and the nostalgic descen-
dants of the area’s founders.

*This article was written by John J. Grabowski of the Western Reserve Historical Society. It is found on pgs. 797-799 in a book entitled; The Encyclopedia
of Cleveland History, Second Edition, by David D. Van Tassel (Editor) and John J. Grabowski (Managing Editor). The book was published in 1996 by
the Indiana University Press (Bloomington & Indianapolis) in association with Case Western Reserve University and the Western Reserve Historical
Society. The full text of this volume is available on line at http://ech.cwru.edu. It is reprinted with their permission.
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KNIOLA, MICHAEL P**

KNIOLA, MICHAEL P. (16 Sept. 1859-17 Sept. 1944), prominent businessman in Cleveland’s Polish com-
munity, was born in Samostrzel, Poland to Peter and Anna Nowakowski Kniola. He immigrated to Spotswood,
N.J. in 1873 and moved to Cleveland in 1880, working at Cleveland Rolling Mill Co. He continued his education
at Broadway Night School, and eventually became a mill foreman. In 1886 Kniola opened a grocery store and,
using the store as a base, provided other services to the Polish community: advancing credit, renting lodgings,
selling insurance and real estate, and, working as a labor broker, finding jobs for immigrants. He sold money orders
and arranged steamship passages, organizing Kniola Travel Bureau in 1890, which was so successful by 1900 that
he sold his grocery and concentrated on the travel business until the late 1920s, when he turned it over to his son,
Raymond.

Kniola helped organize Cleveland’s first Polish newspaper, Polonia w Ameryce, in 1892. In 1893 he began the
Polish Republican Club; he also was a director of the Polish-American Chamber of Commerce, an administrator of
probate court, and ran for city council in 1909. Kniola helped organize the Knights of St. Casimir, and was a
director of both the Polish Alliance of America and the Polish Roman Catholic Union of the U.S. He was a
purchaser, incorporator, and president of Polish Falcon Hall and was director and treasurer of Polish Falcon Nest
141 (see SOKOL POLSKI). Kniola was also an organizer and trustee of ST. STANISLAUS CHURCH. In 1880
he married Mary Skarupski and they had 7 children: Caroline, Benjamin, John B., Raymond J., Celia, Casimer,
and Joseph M. Kniola died in Cleveland and was buried in St. Joseph’s Cemetery.

Coulter, Charles W. The Poles of Cleveland (1919). Kniola Travel Bureau Records, WRHS.

KOLASZEWSKI, ANTON FRANCIS**

KOLASZEWSKI, ANTON FRANCIS (5 Sept. 1851-2 Dec. 1910), dynamic priest, was born in Russian

Poland to John and Catherine Gergens Kolaszewski. His family immigrated to America, and Kolaszewski studied
for the priesthood at Franciscan College at Teutopolis, Ill. and St. Mary Seminary in Cleveland, being ordained in
1883 and becoming pastor of ST. STANISLAUS CHURCH. His congregation grew as Polish immigrants arrived
seeking steel mill jobs. With their religion alone familiar in the new land, Kolaszewski was not only their pastor but
also their community leader. As his congregation grew, Kolaszewski envisioned a soaring brick Gothic church and,
counting on the generosity of his poorly paid parishioners, let out contracts and began the work in 1886. When
completed in 1891, St. Stanislaus Church cost $250,000. Earlier Kolaszewski established Sacred Heart of Jesus
church for Poles living in the southern part of the district. By 1889 he built a church for that congregation.
St. Stanislaus parish developed factions. Kolaszewski’s appraisal of his congregation’s financial resources proved
false, and Kolaszewski had unwisely concealed both the church cost and resulting debt from diocesan authorities.
Bp. IGNATIUS HORSTMANN demanded Kolaszewski’s resignation in 1892. Kolaszewski went to Syracuse,
N.Y., beginning an association with a Polish nationalistic movement of dissident Roman Catholics. In 1894,
Kolaszewski returned to Cleveland. Popular with many former parishioners, a number joined IMMACULATE
HEART OF MARY PARISH, which Kolaszewski organized, emphasizing both the congregation’s orthodoxy yet
its independence from diocesan control. Kolaszewski refused to concede and was excommunicated. He reconciled
with the church in 1908 but resigned the pastorate.

SAWICKI, JOSEPH E**

SAWICKI, JOSEPH E (18 Mar. 1881-30 Oct. 1969), lawyer, politician, and judge, was born in Gorzno,
Poland to Peter and Bogumila Jurkowska Sawicki, immigrated with his family to Cleveland when he was 5, and
worked his way through St. Ignatius College, BALDWIN-WALLACE COLLEGE, Western Reserve University
Law School, and Cleveland Law School, receiving the LL.B. degree, being admitted to the Ohio bar, and begin-
ning to practice law in 1904. Sawicki served in the Ohio legislature from 1905-08 and 1911-12. He was appointed
judge of municipal courton 1 Jan. 1919 and won his first election to the post that November. In 1932, Sawicki was
forced into involuntary bankruptcy, with over $200,000 debt from real-estate investments and campaign expenses.
When court records made public the numerous loans made to Sawicki from practicing lawyers, the executive

committee of the CLEVELAND BAR ASSN. (CBA) demanded his resignation, so Sawicki retired from the bench
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in 1933 and returned to private practice. In 1953, Sawicki served as a member of the Cleveland Charter Commis-
sion, and in 1959 was appointed special counsel for the Ohio attorney general. Active in the Polish-American
community, Sawicki was honored by the Cleveland Society of Poles as “Good Joe of 1967” for his work in numer-
ous Polish relief groups and the Polish-American Chamber of Commerce. An avid coin collector, he was president
of the Western Reserve Numismatic Assoc. Sawicki married Elizabeth Veronica Sadowska in 1908 and had 2
daughters, Mrs. Edward Gilbert and Mrs. Jas. Wager, and 2 sons, Eugene and Edwin.

WALSH, (WALASIEWICZ), STELLA (STANISLAWA)**

WALSH, (WALASIEWICZ), STELLA (STANISLAWA) (3 Apr. 1911-4 Dec. 1980), named the greatest woman
athlete of the first half of the 20th century by the Helm Athletic Foundation (1951), was born in Wierzchownin,
Poland, daughter of Julian and Veronica (Uninski) Walasiewicz. Brought to Cleveland when she was 10, Walsh
attended South and Notre Dame high schools. In 1926 she tied the women’s record of 6 seconds for the 50-yd.
dash; and by 1928 was prepared to represent the U.S. in the Olympics when it was discovered she had never
become an American citizen. With naturalization nearly completed, Walsh was laid off from her job, but then
offered employment by the Polish consulate if she would represent Poland in the Los Angeles Olympics in 1936.
She did not become an American citizen until Dec. 1947. Representing Poland, Walsh won the 100-meter dash at
the 1932 Olympic games, setting a world record. In 1936, she finished 2d. Still competing in her fifties, in 1967
Walsh won a 60-yd. dash in 7.7 seconds, less than a .5 second slower then her 7.3 world record time in 1934. She
won over 5,000 track and field events during her career. In 1948 she founded the San Fernando Valley Women’s
Athletic Club. In the 1970s she coached the Polish Falcons (see SOKOL POLSKI) track club in Cleveland. Mar-
ried for a short time to Harry Olson during the 1950s, Walsh used Walsh-Olson as her legal name thereafter. Walsh
was shot to death in a parking lot during an attempted robbery; she was buried in CALVARY CEMETERY.

**These four biographical sketches are about the people mentioned in the preceding article. They are found on Pgs. 266, 268, 397 and 467 respectively,
in a book entitled: The Encyclopedia of Cleveland Biography by David D. Van Tassel (Editor) and John J. Grabowski (Managing Editor). The book was
published in 1996 by the Indiana University Press (Boomington & Indianapolis) in association with Case Western Reserve University and The
Western Reserve Historical Society. The full text of this volume is available on line at http://ech.cwru.edu. It is reprinted with their permission.

This if a photo of Polish immigrants, probably not yet naturalized, who volunteered to serve with Haller's Army in France. They have gathered together
for a “memorial” photo before departing for training. The date is October 15, 1917; the town is Monessen, Pa., a small town south of Pittsburgh. The
sign held up by one of the volunteers reads, “Bid us farewell America, we are off to confront that despot, the Kaiser, for your freedom and ours”, There
were many such leave-takings at the time, including many from the Greater Cleveland area. Reproduced with the permission of The Western Reserve
Historical Society, Cleveland, Ohio
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“OuRr POLISH ANCESTORS”
is published by

THE PoLiSH GENEALOGICAL SOCIETY
OF GREATER CLEVELAND

Everyone who is interested in Genealogy, and more specifically Polish Genealogy, is welcome to join
our group. We meet the first Tuesday of the month from September thru June at St. Mary’s PNC Church;
5375 Broadview Rd. (corner of Broadview & Wexford); Parma, Ohio. Parking is available in the parish

lot, the entrance of which is on Marietta Ave. Meetings begin at 7:30 PM and usually end at 9:30-10:00 PM.

Membership dues are $20.00 a year.

(330) 769-4603

President: John F. Szuch
105 Pleasant View Dr., Seville, Ohio 44273

(440) 734-7839

Vice-President:  Joseph Hadbavny
3889 Edgepark Dr., No. Olmsted, Ohio 44070

(216) 226-1548

Treasurer: Richarda Jambrozy
1492 Lewis Dr., Cleveland, Ohio 44107

(440) 256-8392

Secretary: Sonia Chapnick
7897 Gildersleeve Circle, Kirtland, Ohio 44094 -

Please submit all correspondence to: PGSGC Newsletter, P.O. Box 609117, Cleveland, Ohio 44109.
Email address—edjmendyka@aol.com
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